

Representing Nurses at

VNA Health Group of NJ, LLC (An

Affiliate of VNA Health Group)

Agreement between

Health Professionals and Allied Employees

AFT/AFL-CIO

And

VNA Health Group of NJ, LLC

(An Affiliate of VNA Health Group)

November 1, 2024 – October 31, 2026

# Health Professionals and Allied Employees AFT/AFL-CIO

110 Kinderkamack Road Emerson, New Jersey 07630

(201) 262-5005

# **STATE OFFICERS**

Deborah White President
Barbara Rosen First Vice President
Alexis Rean-Walker Secretary/Treasurer

# **Table of Contents**

| ARTICLE 1 UNION RECOGNITION  | 1     |
|--|-------|
| ARTICLE 2 UNION STATUS/RIGHTS  | 2     |
| ARTICLE 3 UNION SECURITY & DUES DEDUCTION                              | 3     |
| ARTICLE 4 LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE                                   | 4     |
| ARTICLE 5 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS  | 5     |
| ARTICLE 6 CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYEES/EMPLOYEE STATUS                  | 6     |
| ARTICLE 7 PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES                                       | 7     |
| ARTICLE 8 SENIORITY  | 8     |
| ARTICLE 9 WORK TIME/HOURS OF WORK                                      | 9     |
| ARTICLE 10 STAFFING/WORK LOADS   | 10    |
| ARTICLE 11 SCHEDULING & WORK SCHEDULES                                 | 12    |
| ARTICLE 12 WEEKENDS AND HOLIDAY WORK                                   | 12    |
| ARTICLE 13 RESIGNATION   | 38    |
| ARTICLE 14 VACANCIES & TRANSFERS                                       | 38    |
| ARTICLE 15 PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE ISSUES                                | 39    |
| ARTICLE 16 HEALTH & SAFETY   | 42    |
| ARTICLE 17 EMPLOYEE RIGHTS   | 42    |
| ARTICLE 18 DISCIPLINE  | 42    |
| ARTICLE 19 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE   | 43    |
| ARTICLE 20 ARBITRATION PROCEDURE                                       | 44    |
| ARTICLE 21 LEAVES OF ABSENCE   | 44    |
| ARTICLE 22 HOLIDAYS  | 46    |
| ARTICLE 23 PERSONAL DAYS   | 47    |
| ARTICLE 24 VACATION DAYS   | 48    |
| ARTICLE 25 SICK LEAVE  | 49    |
| ARTICLE 26 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE   | 49    |
| ARTICLE 27 JURY DUTY   | 50    |
| ARTICLE 28 HEALTH, GROUP LIFE, DENTAL AND LONG-TERM DISABILITY INSURAI | NCE50 |
| ARTICLE 29 RETIREMENT BENEFITS   | 51    |
| ARTICLE 30 MONETARY BENEFITS   | 52    |
| ARTICLE 31 WAGES, DIFFERENTIALS, BONUSES AND OTHER ECONOMIC BENEFITS   | 553   |
| ARTICLE 32 SEPARABILITY  | 62    |

| ARTICLE 33 | NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT            | 62 |
|------------|---------------------------------|----|
| ARTICLE 34 | SUSPENSION OF NORMAL OPERATIONS | 63 |
| ARTICLE 35 | DURATION OF THE CONTRACT        | 63 |

# **AGREEMENT**

This agreement is made and entered by and between the VNA Health Group of New Jersey, LLC, a non-profit corporation of the State of New Jersey, (herein after referred to as the "Employer") and the Health Professionals and Allied Employees, AFT/AFL-CIO, (herein after referred to as the "Union").

#### ARTICLE 1 UNION RECOGNITION

1.1 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining representative for the following bargaining unit:

All full-time and regular part-time (including per diem) Registered Nurses and Licensed Practical Nurses employed by the Employer at its operations whose office is currently in Essex County or Hudson County, New Jersey, who perform home health care, but excluding all office clerical employees, hospice nurses, managerial employees, confidential employees, guards, and supervisors as defined in the Act, and all other employees.

Bargaining Unit employees shall not be required to perform duties normally performed by non-Bargaining Unit employees, but may volunteer provided they are qualified for such assignment. The Employer agrees that during the term of this Agreement, it shall assert or challenge the supervisor or non-supervisory status, as defined in Section 2(11) of the National Labor Relations Act of any bargaining unit employees.

The bargaining unit employees (including Level 3 Nurses) shall not have the authority to hire, transfer, suspend, layoff, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward, or discipline other employees or responsibility to direct them, or just to adjust their grievances or effectively recommend such actions or to exercise independent judgement in any such regard unless the exercise of the foregoing is routine or clerical in nature.

The foregoing shall not preclude bargaining unit nurses from performing any duties, which they are presently performing.

- 1.2 In the event that the Employer establishes a new job classification which falls within the scope of the "recognition clause," the Employer shall notify the Union in writing of such new job classification and shall bargain with the union regarding the new job classification's terms and conditions of employment.
- 1.3 In the event of an acquisition of the Employer or merger of the Employer with another entity, the Employer agrees to notify and meet with the Union at least forty-five (45) calendar days prior to discuss the impact of such a merger and/or acquisition on bargaining unit employees.

# ARTICLE 2 UNION STATUS/RIGHTS

#### 2.1 Information to the Union

- a. The Employer shall on February 1st and July 1st of each year provide the Union, in writing a complete list of bargaining unit employees. Such list shall include name, employee ID number, address, department, status, and classification.
- b. On a monthly basis, the Employer shall provide the Union, in writing, a list of any new bargaining unit employee hired by the Employer. Such list shall include name, employee ID number, address, date of hire, department, status, and classification.
- c. On a quarterly basis, the Employer shall notify the Union, in writing, of changes in name, address, department, status, and classification of current bargaining unit employees. The Employer shall also provide a list of all employees who have terminated employment and whether the termination was voluntary or involuntary.

#### 2.2 Union Communication

- a. The Union shall provide a locked mailbox for the exclusive use of the Union to be maintained in the cubical or office of the member of the Union.
- b. Upon reasonable notice, the Employer agrees to provide the Union with meeting space for Union meetings provided such space is available.

# 2.3 Rights of Union Representatives and Officers

- a. The Union will notify the Employer in writing of the employees selected to be Union Representatives and Officers. The Union will notify the Employer in writing of changes in the list of Representatives and Officers.
- b. The Employer agrees that Union Representatives and Officers shall have all rights as provided by the National Labor Relations Act.

# 2.4 Union Days/Union Leave of Absence

- a. The Union shall be provided ten (10) days without pay to conduct Union business each contract year. The Local Union President shall have the right to designate the Union Officers and/or Representatives who shall receive such days. The Union will notify the Employer in a timely manner of the individuals so designated and the date (s) of their unpaid union days.
- b. Leaves of absence without pay for up to six (6) months shall be granted to Union Officers who gain employment with the Union, with rights to request from the Employer an additional six (6) months. Upon expiration of the leave, the employee shall be entitled to return to his or her former position if available or a comparable position if available, or if no position is available the returning employee will be offered the first subsequent position to become available within six (6) months of the expiration of such leave with no loss of seniority.

#### 2.5 Union Activity, Visitation and Bulletin Boards

- a. No Employee shall engage in any Union activity including the distribution of literature or electronic means of communication which interferes with the performance of work during his/her working time or in working areas of the Employer including the homes of patients at any time, except as provided in this Article.
- b. A staff representative of the Union shall have reasonable access to the Employer for the purpose of conferring with the Employer, delegates of the Union and/or Employees, and for the purpose of administering this Agreement. Where the Union Staff representative finds it necessary to enter the Facility and/or a department of the Employer for this purpose, he/she shall first obtain permission, which shall not be unreasonably denied, from the Executive Director or his/her designee. A Union representative intending to go to a department other than the one he/she represents shall also obtain permission, which shall not be unreasonably denied, from the person in charge. No visits shall interfere with the operations of the Employer.
- c. The Employer shall provide one (1) locked bulletin board, which shall be used for the purpose of posting proper Union notices. Said bulletin board shall be placed conspicuously and in a place readily accessible to union members in the course of employment. All notices shall be related to Union business only. If a posting is judged to be derogatory or defamatory by the Employer a Union Representative will be notified and the posting removed. The Employer may retain a key to the bulletin board which shall only be used to remove defamatory or derogatory material and in the event they access the bulletin board, the Employer shall as soon as possible after the removal notify the local union president.
- d. Promptly after employee's first day of orientation at the for a new employee, the local representative will provide a copy of the Agreement to new employees and be provided a time and place to meet with the new employee. The local representative and the newly hired employees will be provided one (1) hour for this meeting, excluding travel time, without loss of pay and will have a reduced caseload of 1-2 points. Employer will notify the Local President or his/her designee and the immediate supervisor of the Union representative of the time and location of orientation meetings.

### ARTICLE 3 UNION SECURITY & DUES DEDUCTION

a.1 To the extent not inconsistent with the law, it shall be a condition of employment that all employees of the Employer covered by this Agreement who are members of the Union in good standing on the effective date of this Agreement shall remain members in good standing with respect to the tendering of regularly scheduled dues or fees uniformly applied. Those who are not members on the effective date of this Agreement (except for probationary employees) shall, to the extent not inconsistent with the law, on the thirtieth (30) calendar day following the effective date of this Agreement, become and remain members in good standing in the Union. It shall also be a condition of employment that all employees covered by this Agreement who are hired, rehired, reinstated or transferred into the bargaining unit, shall, to the extent not inconsistent with the law, become a

member of the Union within the thirtieth (30TH) calendar day following the beginning of such employment and remain members in good standing in the Union. Where the effective date of the Agreement is made retroactive, the execution date shall be substituted for the effective date. The failure of any employee to become a member of the Union at the required time shall obligate the Employer, upon written notice from the Union to such effect, and providing that the Union membership was available on the same terms available to other members, to discharge such person. Further, failure of any person to maintain his/her membership in good standing as required herein shall, upon written notice to the Employer by the Union to such effect, obligate the Employer to discharge such person.

- 3.2 The Employer shall deduct from the pay of each bargaining unit employee who is or thereafter becomes a member of the Union all membership dues upon the submission from the Union to the Employer of proper payroll authorization cards voluntarily executed by the employees from whom the membership dues are to be checked off.
- **3.3** Upon ratification of this agreement the Union shall certify the amount of membership dues or fees for service to be deducted from each employee's pay, whether in the form of initiation fees, periodic monthly dues, or authorized assessments, in writing by an authorized Union official. The Union shall notify the Employer promptly of any changes in the amount of membership dues or fee for service.
- 3.4 The Union shall indemnify the Employer and hold the Employer harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits and other forms of liability that arise out of, or by reason of, action taken or not taken for the purpose of complying with any of the provisions of this Article.
- 3.5 Membership dues and fees deducted shall be forwarded to the Union on or about the fifteenth (15) day of each month. The Employer shall list the names, hours worked, gross pay, employee identification number, phone number, email and employment status (full time, part time, per diem, or per visit) and the amount of dues or fees for service deducted from each employee. The Employer will provide the union with such information by printed or electronic format.
- 3.6 Voluntary COPE Check-off: Upon receipt of a voluntary, duly authorized check-off authorization, the Employer shall deduct such amount of monies authorized by employees for the Union's political action fund, called HPAE Committee on Political Education (COPE). The amount of money deducted from employees' paychecks and an itemized list of such deductions shall be forwarded to the Union no less than one (1) time per month and no later than one (1) month following the deductions.

#### ARTICLE 4 LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 4.1 The Union and Employer agree to the creation of a Labor-Management Committee. There shall be three (3) representatives selected by the Union and three (3) representatives selected by the Employer. The HPAE State President, or his/her designee, and the CEO of the Employer, or his/her designee, shall serve as ex-officio members of the committee.
- **4.2** The Committee shall initially meet bi-monthly. Upon request of either party, meetings on the alternating months will be scheduled. Employees, if working, shall be released with pay in order to attend meeting.
- 4.3 This Committee shall function completely separate from and independent of all grievance procedures under this Agreement and these meetings shall not be considered negotiating sessions.

#### ARTICLE 5 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- **5.1** Accept as modified by this agreement, the Employer has and retains every right and prerogative of management, and that the management of the business and operations of the Employer and the direction of its working forces are vested exclusively in the Employer.
- The listing of the following specific rights is not intended to be nor shall it be restrictive of, or a waiver of, any of the rights of the Employer not listed and specifically surrendered herein, whether or not such rights have been exercised by the Employer in the past. Thus, by way of illustration but not by way of limitation, the following rights shall be solely within the province of the Employer:
  - (a) The right to determine what functions and patients will be served by the Employer; the right to determine the times during which the operations of the Employer shall be conducted and to determine the extent of such operations; the right to determine the size and composition of the working force or the cutback thereof; the right to determine the equipment to be utilized in the operations of the Employer, the methods and procedures to be followed in carrying out the Employer's operations; and the practices and procedures for use, care, and maintenance of the Employer's equipment; the right to implement improved operational methods and procedures; and the right to determine the kind and location of facilities.
  - (b) The right to determine the quality of work to be performed by the employees; the right to determine the quantity of the work to be performed; the right to schedule the Employer's business and operations; the right to direct the work force, including the right to hire, transfer, discharge, suspend, layoff, promote (including promotion out of the bargaining unit), demote, or discipline employees, subject to the provisions of this Agreement; the right to determine and change the content and location of the jobs of the employees; the right to determine the work schedule of each employee; and the right to promulgate rules, regulations and personnel policies not specifically covered under this Agreement.
  - (c) The right to control or change the assignment of work of each employee including, but not limited to, the right to determine to whom a particular job shall be assigned and to the location of the home visits to which each Nurse shall be assigned; the right to direct employees; the right to determine job assignment; and the right to determine the materials and equipment used.
  - (d) The right to determine the number and location of the Employer's facilities; the right to maintain order and efficiency; and the right to close down or move part of any or all facilities, functions or operations.
  - (e) The right to make reasonable rules and regulations as the Employer may from time to time deem best for the purpose of maintaining order, health, safety, and/or effective and economic operation of its business, and after advance notice thereof to the Union, to require compliance therewith by the employees, including the right to require each and every employee to observe applicable health and safety rules and instructions adopted or required by the Employer.
- **5.3** The Employer shall notify the Union of changes in policies and practices.

# ARTICLE 6 CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYEES/EMPLOYEE STATUS

- **6.1** An employee shall be classified as a) full-time, b) part-time, c) per diem, or per visit.
  - a. A full-time employee is an employee who is employed on a regular basis to work 37.5 hours per week through scheduled work shifts of 7.5 hours or more per day.
  - b. A part-time employee is an employee who is employed on a regular basis to work 22.5 or more hours per week but less than 37.5 hours per week, through scheduled work shifts of 7.5 hours or more per day per day. Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, eligible part-time employees shall be entitled to receive pro-rata benefits in regard to sick leave, vacation, personal and holidays. Part-time employees hired to work 30 hours 7 or more shall receive full health benefits, all other part-time employees are ineligible for such benefits.
  - c. A per diem employee is an employee who works on a day-to-day, as needed, basis and does not fall under the classification of a full- or part-time employee. Per diems receive an hourly rate of pay or per visit rate, but no other benefits except for pension as per Article 29.
  - d. A per visit employee will be defined as an employee who is paid on a per visit basis based on the rates set forth in Article 31.4 (c). A per visit employee may have a regular case load and set schedule of hours, either part-time or full-time, or be scheduled on a per diem basis in accordance with Article 24.1 (a), but are not eligible for any paid time off. Per visit employees shall not be entitled to any other benefits except for pension as per Article 29.
  - e. The Employer shall have the right to create, post, and fill positions for employees who are categorized in any of the above classifications. No employee hired on an hourly basis shall be required to change to a per visit position.
  - f. A temporary employee is an employee who is hired on a temporary basis, not to exceed twelve (12) months, to fill a position due to a special project, a vacancy that the Employer has been unable to fill on a permanent basis, a leave of absence and/or vacation. The Employer's employees permanently assigned to another Employer location shall remain members of that location's bargaining unit for up to twelve months. Such temporary employees shall not be members of the HPAE bargaining unit. HPAE bargaining Unit members shall have preference for all available work time over temporary nurses or nurses from other Employer locations. Non-HPAE-bargaining unit employees will not be used to avoid the need to fill or post vacant bargaining unit positions except in instances of a temporary nature.
  - g. Employees shall be classified as non-exempt with respect to the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).

# 6.2 Per Diem Scheduling

a. All communications regarding scheduling of per diems will be with the Clinical Manager or designee. No other communications between the Employer and the per diem will be binding on either party in regards to scheduling.

- b. For the purpose of advance scheduling, per diems shall submit their availability for the following month by the 15th of the previous month. For each date that a per diem makes themselves available, they shall state the specific hours each day that they are available.
- c. The schedule will be posted no later than the 25th of the preceding month. Only time for which the per diem made themselves available will be included in the schedule unless the Clinical Manager requests a variation from the per diem and the per diem voluntarily changes their availability.
- d. Once the schedule is posted, either the per diem or the Clinical Manager may cancel a scheduled shift with as much notice as possible, but by at least 3 PM the prior business day except in cases of unforeseen emergencies. Cancellation of part of a scheduled shift shall only be by mutual agreement. If the Employer fails to give notice prior to the close of the business day, the per diem shall be paid for the hours they would have worked as indicated on the posted schedule at their hourly rate as per 6.1c above.
- e. Per Diems will only be expected to work the hours that they made themselves available for. Per diems may make themselves available for visits or hours, at their individual discretion. This shall only apply to hours or visits in excess of weekend and holiday requirements.
- f. For days that per diems are not scheduled on the monthly schedule, the Clinical Manager or designated supervisor may call the per diem to ascertain whether the per diem is willing to make such unscheduled visits which the per diem may volunteer to make regardless of whether the per diem had previously listed that day on their monthly availability or not.
- 6.3 Appointment to a position shall be in writing with the date of hire, salary and any differential stated. The Employer will make best efforts to provide a job description for the specific position occupied by the newly appointed staff member prior to or at orientation. Further, at the time of hire or a change in position, each bargaining unit member will be informed in writing of his/her normal workweek and days, travel requirements (if any), and on-call requirements (if any).
- **6.4** RNs covered by this agreement are strongly encouraged to enroll in a BSN program.

# ARTICLE 7 PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES

- **7.1** Employees (whose regularly scheduled hours are more than thirty (30) per week) shall serve a ninety (90) calendar days probationary period. A probationary employee shall be covered by this Agreement, provided that such employee may be terminated or otherwise disciplined at any time during the probationary period, and such decision shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure of this Agreement.
- **7.2** At the end of ninety (90) days the Employer may, extend the probationary period for an additional time up to thirty (30) days. The Employer will notify the Union of its decision to extend

probation. The Employer will exercise this option in good faith and agrees that such extensions will not become routine. If the probationary period is extended, the Employer agrees to meet with the employee for an evaluative conference.

- 7.3 The probationary period for per diem and part-time employees whose regularly scheduled hours are thirty or less per week shall be one hundred twenty (120) calendar days.
- **7.4** Upon successful completion of the probationary period, employees shall accrue sick, vacation and personal time retroactive to the first day of employment and may utilize them.
- **7.5** The probationary period for nurse residency employees shall begin after the completion of their one year residency program.

#### ARTICLE 8 SENIORITY

- **8.1** Definition Seniority shall be defined as the length of the employee's continuous service with the Employer. "Continuous service" shall cover all authorized paid leaves of absence and shall be computed from the employee's last date of hire.
- **8.2** Application Seniority shall be used for purposes of benefit accrual, layoff, personal, vacation, and holiday time off.
- 8.3 Loss of Seniority An employee's seniority shall be broken by resignation, dismissal from employment, or retirement. An employee who voluntarily resigns their employment, but returns within nine (9) months, shall have their seniority restored, but shall not have accrued seniority during their absence.

# 8.4 Layoffs/Reduction of Hours

- a. In the event of a layoff or reduction of hours a notice which includes the anticipated length shall be sent to the Union. This notice shall be given as soon as reasonably possible after the Employer decides to affect a layoff. A minimum layoff notice of fourteen (14) calendar days shall be provided to the Union, the affected employees and those who might be affected.
- b. At the request of the Union, the Employer will meet with the Union to discuss any matters the Union has concerning the layoff or reduction of hours and to explore alternatives to prevent layoffs.
- c. In case of a layoff or reduction in hours, the following procedure shall be applied to affected employees.
  - (1) The most senior affected employee shall be offered a choice of any comparable vacant position provided she/he is immediately qualified based on the job description for the position and able to perform the job with fourteen (14) days training.
  - (2) If the employee refuses a vacant comparable (same classification, job title, hours of work, and rate of pay) position, s/he will have the option of being placed in a layoff status, or

- (3) The employee may bump the least senior bargaining unit employee within the agency. In order to bump another person within the bargaining unit the employee must be able to perform the job with fourteen (14) days training. A Part Time Employee may bump a less senior Full Time Employee if the Part Time Employee is willing to work Full Time hours.
- (4) A laid-off employee is eligible to work as a per diem employee, if such work is available.
- (5) If the affected employee chooses not to bump the least senior employee, the employee will have been deemed to waive his/her bumping rights and will be placed on layoff status.
- (6) Each affected employee will have three (3) business days from the date of notification of layoff and bumping options in which to advise the Employer whether or not they intend to bump. The Employer will provide the bump list and any other information on the employee's options to the employee and the Union.
- **8.5** Recall Employees in a recall status will have first preference for any vacant position for which they have the ability and skills to perform. Employees will be recalled in the reverse order in which they were laid off. If an employee takes a position other than his or her original position, the employee shall have the option of returning to their original position if it becomes available. Recall status shall be for a maximum of twelve (12) months.

# ARTICLE 9 WORK TIME/HOURS OF WORK

- 9.1 The normal work week for full time employees, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement and as set forth in job descriptions, shall consist of thirty-seven and one-half (37-1/2) hours within a seven (7) day period. The Employer shall set the work schedule and hours of work for employees based upon its patient care and operational needs and convenience. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the normal work week for full time employees hired prior to the ratification of this agreement shall be thirty-seven and one-half (37-1/2) hours, Monday Friday, from 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.
- 9.2 The Employer shall be able to create and post positions with work schedules outside of the normal shifts of work (as per 9.1). Such positions may either be hourly or per visit positions. These alternative shifts are including but not limited to:
  - (a) Any five (5) shifts at seven and a half (7.5) hours per shift within a seven-day period with a weekend and holiday rotation commitment.
  - (b) Any four (4) shifts with three (3) shifts at nine and a half hours (9.5) hours per shift and one (1) shift at nine (9) hours per shift within a seven-day period with a weekend and holiday rotation commitment.
  - (c) Any three (3) shifts at twelve and a half (12.5) hours per shift within a seven-day period with a weekend and holiday rotation commitment. Full time Per Visit Nurses will also be hired into work scheduled options outlined above with a weekend or holiday rotation commitment. All weekend and holiday commitments are per article 12 of this agreement.

With sixty (60) days' notice the Employer shall have the right to make temporary changes to an individual employee's regular work hours, provided that such changes shall be limited to twenty (20) days per quarter. Changes with less than sixty (60) days' notice to an employee's regular work hours may be made with the consent of the effected employee.

Any employee regularly assigned to work at least one (1) weekend day per week shall be excluded from the weekend rotation.

- (d) Any work schedule that does not exceed the 37 % hour per week threshold set forth in Article 9.1.
- **9.3** There will be a thirty (30) minute unpaid lunch period, and one fifteen (15) minute paid rest period provided each workday.
- 9.4 The workweek shall be consistent at all times with the Employer's payroll practice which currently provides that the workweek commences on Sunday and ends on Saturday. If the Employer chooses to change the payroll practices, the Employer shall notify the Union, and the Union shall have the right to bargain the impact of such change.
- 9.5 Time worked beyond forty (40) hours in one workweek will be paid at time and one half (1-1/2). Only hours worked shall be used to determine overtime pay. To be compensated for overtime, the overtime must first be authorized by the immediate supervisor and appear on the weekly time sheet covering the workweek in which earned. Overtime shall be compensated in money and not in time off. Overtime is voluntary.
- 9.6 No later than 12/1/21, the Employer shall (with the input of the Labor Management Committee) promulgate a policy on the procedure for nurses to follow on inclement weather days.

# ARTICLE 10 STAFFING/WORK LOADS

Patient care at the Employer is delivered through an interdisciplinary case management model. As such, staff focus is on assisting patients to achieve mutually set goals through care coordination with other disciplines involved and through the provision of the number of visits needed to achieve these objectives. Managers will establish a routine of case conferencing to assist staff to meet case management objectives.

- **10.1** Caseload size and number of visits per week are used to determine staffing levels so that the Employer can maintain quality of care within budget restraints.
  - a) No more than 2 Starts of Care Visits (SOC) or 6 points will be assigned to a 7.5-hour nurse on a weekday or weekend unless mutually agreed upon.. No more than 8 points will be assigned to a 9.5-hour employee on a weekday or weekend unless mutually agreed upon. If a 7.5-hour nurse on a weekend or a holiday has a full assignment (6 points or two starts of care visits) no additional visits shall be assigned for that day, unless mutually agreed upon. If a 9.5-hour nurse on a weekend or a holiday has a full assignment (8 points), no additional visits shall be assigned for that day, unless mutually agreed upon.

- (b) Any employee who wishes to do more SOC than outlined in 10.1a may do so.
- (c) Case managing staff is expected to maintain a productivity of 30 points per week weighted as follows:

Start of Care (SOC) = 3
Resumption of Care = 2.5
Recertification = 1.5
RN01 = 1.5
RN18 / In Home OASIS discharges= 1.5
Revisits (includes all other in-home visits) = 1
Virtual Telehealth = 1
Visit Attempts = 0.25

High acuity SOC, Resumption of Care and Recertification, Revisit = additional point value. On a case-by-case basis, the employee may request a review of a potentially high acuity case. If management determines the patient is a high acuity case, an additional point(s) shall be granted. Management shall not unreasonably deny such a request.

For bonus purposes, all starts of care documentation must be completed within 24 hours of the visit. Failure to do so will eliminate the productivity bonus for that visit. This provision shall not apply in cases where a nurse completed three starts of care in one day. In those cases, the nurse shall have up to 48 hours to complete the documentation for those visits and still receive the bonus.

- **10.2** LPNs with five years or greater seniority will be eligible for a bonus after 30 points per week and may be paired with case managing staff to assist in providing routine visits
- 10.3 It is recognized by the parties that for optimum patient care the standard number of cases any individual nurse should be responsible for case managing should not exceed 32 cases at a time or a lower number in consideration of the acuity of patients and/or the experience level of the nurse. The employer will make best efforts to maintain assignments of 32 or less. It is understood that emergent circumstances may cause a temporary need to exceed this standard. If the need extends beyond two weeks (or as soon as it is apparent that it will extend beyond two weeks), management will make best efforts to reduce case managing load to the standard as soon as possible to maintain quality patient care.
- **10.4** Consideration will be given for patient care needs, travel that exceeds normal expectations, visit attempts, non-visit discharges, SN90s, and TIFs.

Consideration by the Employer will be given when distributing daily assignments to attempt to assign patients in a clustered location when possible. It is understood that frequently circumstances arise that cause assignments to be given that are not within close proximity of each other due to operational demands and location and patient needing to be assigned.

Staff are expected to be available during their scheduled hours to make any unscheduled emergency visits needed, provided that staff will not be required to take an additional patient

after 2:00 pm for an IV Start of Care (SOC), 2:30 PM for Start of Care (SOC), Resumption of Care (ROC) and recertification and 3:00 pm for a revisit.

All assignments shall consider not only time spent in the patient's home but also the time needed for completion of documentation within 24-48 hours from the visit date, in accordance with Employer policy. Nurse is expected to sync and confirm all their assignments within ninety (90) minutes after receiving final notification from the scheduler/manager.

**10.4** The Employer shall continue to provide employees with a cell phone with Bluetooth for work related calls.

#### ARTICLE 11 SCHEDULING & WORK SCHEDULES

- **11.1** Preference for all available work time shall be given to bargaining unit employees over nurses supplied through outside agencies.
- 11.2 The Employer shall post a four (4) week work schedule not less than two (2) weeks in advance of the start of the schedule. Employees may request changes in their schedule and/or days off, and such requests shall not be unreasonably denied. The Employer shall respond to employee requests within three (3) days. Switches shall first be submitted to management for their approval and shall be granted provided no overtime is generated. Once a schedule is posted, no changes may be made without the mutual consent of the effected employee(s) and the manager.

#### ARTICLE 12 WEEKENDS AND HOLIDAY WORK

#### 12.1 Weekend Rotation

- (a) In addition to their regular work, all full-time, part-time and per diem employees will work a rotating weekend commitment when needed by the Employer. Employees will rotate within their specific programs, except that employees who are regularly assigned to work at least one (1) weekend day per week shall not be required to work weekend rotations. The maximum weekend rotation requirement for full time employees shall be three (3) weekend days every four (4) weeks, and two (2) weekend days every four (4) weeks for part time and per diem employees. Employees shall be paid for actual hours worked on weekend rotation. Employees hired prior to the ratification date of this agreement shall not be required to work more than two (2) weekend days every four weeks.
- (b) There will be a monthly weekend rotation list. Each employee shall submit a monthly request in writing by the 15th of the previous month with weekend work availability to their immediate supervisor. Consistent with current practice, open weekend shifts will be distributed on a voluntary basis.
- (c) The weekend rotation employee will be on duty from 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. If there are two (2) or more cases requiring an 8:30 a.m. visit (i.e., diabetics), the employee may commence work at 8:00 a.m., with prior supervisory approval.

- (d) For a weekend rotation of two (2) days, all full-time and part-time employees who are scheduled to work as a .6 FTE or more will be scheduled for one (1) day off between Monday and Friday of the workweek prior to the weekend and one (1) day off between Monday and Friday of the workweek immediately following the weekend. At the time of scheduling, the employee on rotation may submit requests for particular days off by the 15th of the previous month. In the event of a conflict in the selection of days off, seniority will prevail. Extra weekend work will be offered to employees, with non-overtime hours offered first, followed by overtime hours.
- (e) If scheduled and cancelled on a weekend assignment, the time scheduled shall be counted as the employee's weekend commitment.
- (f) If an employee volunteers to work on a weekend day, she/he may request a particular type of assignment and/or geographical area. The Employer shall grant such a request if it is consistent with the Employer's operational needs. This request does not apply to the employee's regularly scheduled weekend assignment or if the employee switches their assignment with another employee.
- (g) In the event that a per diem employee who is paid on a per visit basis is required to work a weekend day for the whole shift, and has no patients to visit with four (4) hours, or less, left in the work day, such employee shall receive the appropriate hourly wage set forth in the contract for the remainder of the work day and will be available for visits.

#### 12.2 Holiday Rotation

- (a) In addition to their regular work, all full-time, part-time, and per diem employees will work a rotating holiday commitment for the holidays listed in Article 22. Employees will rotate within their specific programs. There will be a quarterly holiday rotation list. Holiday rotation requests shall be made in accordance with the weekend scheduling procedure set forth in Article 12.1(b).
- (b) Effective November 1, 2018, with the exception of HCICs, the maximum holiday rotation requirement shall be three (3) holidays per year per full-time employee, three (3) holidays per year for part-time and two (2) for per diem employees. For all employees' holidays will be split into three different categories and employees may be scheduled for one (1) holiday in each category in a calendar year (such days to count toward rotation above). Per diem employees may be scheduled for one (1) holiday in the Summer and Winter categories. HCICs are required to work both Presidents' Day and Martin Luther King, Jr Day unless time off is granted for one of those days. They are not required to work any other holiday. They shall receive pay and time and time off in accordance with Article 22.

| Summer           | Winter         | Other                      |
|------------------|----------------|----------------------------|
| Memorial Day     | Thanksgiving   | Martin Luther King, Jr Day |
| Independence Day | Christmas      | Presidents' Day            |
| Labor Day        | New Year's Day | Float Holiday              |

Nothing in this section is intended to prevent an employee from volunteering to work more than the required holidays.

- (c) The holiday rotation employee will be on duty from 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. If there are two (2) or more cases requiring an 8:30 a.m. visit (i.e., diabetics), the employee may commence work at 8:00 a.m., with prior supervisory approval.
- (d) Employees working holidays shall be paid in accordance with Article 22.4. If scheduled and cancelled on the holiday assignment, the time scheduled shall be counted as a holiday commitment.

# 12.3 Call-Outs on Weekends or Holidays

If an employee calls out sick or otherwise fails to work on a scheduled weekend day or holiday, that day shall not be credited to the employee's weekend or holiday commitment and the employee shall make up the day(s) by working the missed number of weekend days or holidays, as applicable. However, the employee's manager may use her/his discretion in determining whether an additional weekend or holiday is assigned based on the employee's work history and/or the circumstances of the call-out.

# ARTICLE 13 RESIGNATION

- 13.1 An employee who resigns shall give the Employer four (4) weeks' written advance notice. Any time off taken during the notice period shall not count toward the 4-week requirement, except when the time off was previously scheduled time off, or an approved leave. 13.2 An employee who gives notice of resignation as provided above shall be entitled to receive payment for unused and accrued vacation, banked holiday time and personal time to the effective date of the resignation. If notice is not given as provided above, an Employee shall not be entitled to such payment. If it was not possible for the Employee to have given such notice because of the employee's own health reasons they will be entitled to such payment provided the employee shall have given as much notice as possible under the circumstances. Effective January 1, 2015, an employee who gives notice of resignation as provided above or who is terminated following successful completion of the introductory period will only receive payment for any accrued but unused vacation leave earned during the calendar year in which the employee resigns. An employee's final paycheck shall be withheld until the employee returns all Company-issued property, for example, tablet, mobile phone, etc.
- 13.2 An employee who gives notice of resignation as provided In order for the employee to receive payment as per 13.2, the employee must return all the Employer's property including, but not limited to, uniforms, keys, cell phones, laptops, and PDAs.

# ARTICLE 14 VACANCIES & TRANSFERS

- **14.1** All regular bargaining unit positions which are vacant and for whom employees are being recruited shall be posted in an agreed-upon location and such information shall be made available to the Union within forty-eight hours of the posting. Such positions shall be posted for one (1) week by the Employer.
- **14.2** During the posting period, internal applicants shall be given preference and if no qualified internal candidates apply following the posting period external applicants may be considered. Among qualified, internal applicants, the employee with the highest seniority shall be selected.
- 14.3 In the event the Employer needs to temporarily transfer an employee from one department to another department, the Employer will first seek volunteers. If no volunteers can be found, the least

senior employee shall be transferred, provided that a temporary transfer shall not exceed three (3) months. No employee shall suffer a loss of pay or status as a result of a temporary transfer. Further, the Employer shall provide an adequate orientation to the new position. Bargaining Unit members temporarily working in a non-Employer service area shall remain covered by this agreement.

# ARTICLE 15 PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE ISSUES

- **15.1** New employees shall receive a clinical orientation of a minimum of one month as determined by the Employer. An orientation shall consist of a thorough review of all the Employer's policies and procedures.
- 15.2 The Employer shall provide in-service programs as required by the New Jersey Department of Health, any accrediting organization, or any governmental regulatory body. Employees shall suffer no loss of pay while attending such programs. Further, the Employer agrees to provide in-service programs when policies or procedures regarding nursing practice are implemented. Upon approval of Nursing Management, employees may attend continuing education programs on the subject of Wound Care. Employees with approval to attend shall be paid for days in attendance and all program fees will be reimbursed by the Employer.
- 15.3 The Employer shall allow each employee to attend one (1) day of continuing education program on an annual basis provided the nursing schedule allows. Employees shall receive regular pay for the day. In addition, the Employer shall reimburse employees for up to \$150.00 for registration plus travel to and from the program by the most economical means (i.e. Nurses are expected to carpool whenever possible) with proof of attendance. In addition, employees may take up to two additional paid days per year to attend HPAE Education Days where Nursing Continuing Education credits are granted, provided the nursing schedule allows; approval will be granted among those who request each day in rotating seniority order at the sole discretion of management.
- 15.4 Employees shall receive a performance evaluation annually. The Employer will make a good faith effort for the evaluation to be done on a prompt and timely basis. At the time of the evaluation, the employee will receive a copy of the evaluation, and the employee will sign acknowledging receipt of the evaluation. Upon receipt of the copy, the employee will discuss the evaluation with his/her supervisor and then have five (5) calendar days (excluding weekends and holidays) to review a copy of the evaluation. By the conclusion of this time period, the employee may add his/her comments to the original evaluation and such comments shall be included, along with the evaluation, in the employee's personnel file.

## 15.5 ACADEMIC DEGREE EDUCATION

Section 1: Registered Nurses and Licensed Practical Nurses (excluding per diem employees) with at least one (1) year of service to the Employer who wish to enroll in an accredited Associate's, Bachelor's or an accredited Master's degree program at a college or university may obtain a leave of absence without pay for up to two (2) years, said leave to be granted at the sole discretion of the Employer, which decision is not grievable. The degree program must be related to the Nurse's job, which determination shall be within the sole discretion of the Employer. Approval of the leave is also subject to the appropriate Supervisor determining that such leave would not be likely to result in a substantial interruption of services to patients and families due to other absences or causes. When educational leave of absence requests are in conflict, seniority will take precedent.

<u>Section 2:</u> The Tuition Reimbursement Plan provides eligible employees with the opportunity to obtain, maintain, or improve job-related capabilities through participation in courses of study at accredited colleges and universities and organizations specializing in job and career-related education and training. Staff members must refer to this article.

(a) Employee Eligibility: All regular full-time and regular part-time employees are eligible to apply for tuition reimbursement upon completion of their introductory period. Employees must be confirmed, i.e., employed for 90 days. An employee must remain employed for at least one year following completion of the course. The first step is to talk to your manager regarding eligibility, review this article, and obtain proper approval from your supervisor.

**(b)** School Eligibility: Baccalaureate and graduate level courses must be taken for academic credit through colleges and universities accredited. Courses leading to certification must be taken at a school or through an organization that is authorized by the certifying authority to provide such educational programs.

**(c)** Course Eligibility: Programs leading to professional certification must be in a specific job- related field of professional discipline and should provide the participating employee with skills, knowledge and competencies applicable to their current position. In order to be eligible for reimbursement, the employee's supervisor must review and certify that the program for which the employee is applying meets the specified criteria and that guidelines have been met.

(d) Tuition and Fee Provisions (Reimbursable): For participation in such programs, employees may be approved for reimbursement of tuition fees up to a maximum of twelve thousand dollars (\$12,000) per year.

**Part One:** Employees eligible for tuition reimbursement will receive one half of fees eligible for reimbursement at the time that the employee registers for approved course(s), shows evidence of registration and payment of same, together with completing the Employer's required Tuition Reimbursement Approval Form and Instruction Checklist Form. If the employee is paying for the tuition in increments, then the Employer will provide reimbursement of one half of the tuition costs for the semester upon proof of the first payment. The Employer will provide such reimbursement within two (2) weeks of the submission of the appropriate information and completed forms.

**Part Two:** Once the course(s) is completed and the employee receives a final grade of "C" or better, the employee is required to submit their final grade report to Human Resources within thirty (30) days of completing said course. Once Human Resources receives the grade report-reflecting grade "C" or better, the employee is eligible to receive the remaining half of eligible fees for reimbursement. Said tuition reimbursement, per year, is not to exceed \$12,000.00. The Employer will provide such remaining reimbursement within two (2) weeks of the employee's submission of the grade report reflecting grade "C" or better. The maximum reimbursement for all courses of study, including certification, career development and job-related graduate study combined, will not exceed \$12,000 per year.

(e) Service Obligation: An employee who receives advance tuition payment or tuition reimbursement agrees that if he/she does not remain employed for at least one year following the completion of the course(s), he/she will be obligated to repay the reimbursement either through payroll deduction or other means. A Tuition Reimbursement Service Agreement must be signed. Please see the attached copy of the

Tuition Reimbursement Service Agreement for details (Schedule A of this agreement).

**(f) Not Reimbursable:** Except for courses leading to professional certification as described above, the following do not qualify for tuition reimbursement:

Professional seminars and workshops, symposia, short (non-credit) courses; college/university entrance exams; review programs for entrance exams; or courses at non-accredited institutions.

Itemized fees not reimbursable to employees include application/pre-admission registration fees, transcript fees, test preparation fees, admission testing fees, placement fees, course waiver or challenge fees, book costs, transportation, parking fees, equipment/kit purchase costs, tutoring fees, deferred tuition fees, registration fees, late registration fees, course addition, deletion or transfer fees, student activity fees, student union fees, petition fees, recreation fees, health coverage costs, dissertation or thesis typing fees, development or foundation fees, institution fees, alumni fees, and other similar fees.

Tuition and eligible fees are not reimbursable when employees receive duplicate or comparable fees from another institution or agency, grant, scholarship, Veterans' Education Benefit, or other financial aid; voluntarily terminate employment, or are terminated for cause, prior to course completion, or have not received advance approval, particularly those associated with a degree program.

**(g) Reimbursement Exceptions:** An employee normally is not reimbursed for a course, which was previously reimbursed under this policy. However, some courses can be repeated but reimbursement for them will require specified advance approval, in writing, from Vice President, Labor Relations.

**(h) Work Schedule Limitations:** Participation in the tuition reimbursement program should not in any way interfere with the employee's ability to perform her or his job.

(i) Procedure: To apply for tuition reimbursement, an employee is required to meet with their manager and receive approval, review this article, complete the Employer's Tuition Reimbursement Approval Form and Instruction Checklist (attaching all documentation required) for each semester.

- The employee and their manager must sign completed forms and return to Human Resources. The employee's manager may include amplifying documentation in support of program or course approval.
- b. Within 30 days of completion of the course, the employee is required to submit their grade report to Human Resources in order to receive Part II, the remaining second half of reimbursement.

<u>Section 3:</u> The Employer will reimburse any Nurse taking the American Nurse Association certification or re-certification or the Hospice (NBCHN) or NAACOG certification or re-certification relating to the Nurse's job category at the Employer, contingent upon the Nurse achieving certification or recertification. Reimbursement shall be for actual fees incurred, not to exceed the A.N.A. member rate.

Section 4: Travel time up to two (2) hours per week per semester shall be granted to full-time Nurses pursuing an accredited bachelor's or master's degree program related to the Nurse's job, which determination shall be within the sole discretion of the Employer. Further, approval of travel time is subject to the employee presenting his/her class schedule to the appropriate Supervisor.

**15.6** General staff and/or team meetings will be held on a regular basis to discuss policies, procedures,

clinical practice issues, and employee concerns. At least fifteen (15) minutes will be allotted at the end of such meetings for employees to discuss these topics with an HPAE Staff Representative and/or a Union Rep without other non-bargaining unit employees or supervisors present.

The HPAE Staff Representative will give the Employer forty-eight (48) hours' notice of their request to attend a meeting and such request will not be unreasonably denied. The Employer shall provide the Union with one (1) weeks' notice of the meeting. Time spent in discussion with the HPAE Staff Representative will not count toward visit time.

#### ARTICLE 16 HEALTH & SAFETY

- **16.1** The Employer agrees to provide a safe and healthy workplace. The Employer and employees agree to observe all applicable health and safety laws and regulations.
- **16.2** A field nurse shall serve on the Employee Safety Committee, which shall meet to review health and safety conditions.
- 16.3 Escort Availability If an employee is required to visit a patient in an identified escort area and no escort is available, the employee must notify his/her supervisor, or the on-call supervisor, within one hour and if the supervisor cannot provide an escort within one hour of the call the employee shall have the right to refuse the assignment. Further, if an employee believes in good faith that they may be exposed to imminent danger, that employee has the right to refuse the assignment, whether an escort is provided or not.
- **16.4** Employees shall not be required to transport passengers. However, when appropriate, carpooling is encouraged to attend meetings or training programs.
- 16.5 <u>Violence Prevention Committee</u>: Within 60 days of ratification HPAE & VNA shall meet in labor management to discuss the establishment of a violence prevention committee that shall meet at least quarterly, or more frequently as needed.

#### ARTICLE 17 EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

- **17.1 Personnel File** Any employee shall have the right to review the contents of their personnel file since he/she became a regular employee. Notice to review such file shall be given by the employee in writing to the Employer. The Employer shall make a good faith effort to make the file available within seventy-two (72) hours after the receipt of such notice. The employee may make a copy of their file.
- **17.2 Non-Discrimination** The Employer and the Union agree to comply with all State and Federal nondiscrimination laws.

# ARTICLE 18 DISCIPLINE

- **18.1** The Employer shall have the right to discharge, suspend or discipline any Employee for just cause.
- 18.2 The Employer will notify the Union in writing of any discharge, suspension, or other discipline within seventy-two (72) hours from the time of the discharge or suspension. If the Employee desires to contest the discharge or suspension, the Union shall file written notice thereof to the Employer within ten (10) calendar days. In such an event, the dispute shall be submitted and determined under the

grievance and arbitration procedure hereinafter set forth, however, commencing at Step 2 of the grievance procedure.

- 18.3 Any employee who is required to attend an investigational interview or disciplinary conference shall be notified as to the time and nature of the meeting and have the right to have a Union Representative accompany him/her.
- **18.4** If the discharge, suspension or other discipline of an employee results from conduct relating to a patient and the patient cannot appear at the arbitration the arbitrator may consider any written statement by the patient or the family member. Such failure to appear shall not be deemed dispositive.

#### ARTICLE 19 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

19.1 A grievance shall be defined as a dispute or complaint arising between the parties hereto under this Agreement or the interpretation, application, performance or any alleged breach thereof, and shall be processed and disposed of in the following manner:

**Step One:** Within fourteen (14) calendar days (except as provided in Article 18.2), an Employee having a grievance and/or his/her Union representative or other representative shall take it up with the Employee's immediate supervisor. The Employer shall give its answer to the Employee and his/her Union representative, within five working days after the presentation of the grievance at Step 1.

**Step Two:** If the grievance is not settled in Step One, the grievance may within fourteen (14) calendar days after the answer in Step One, be presented in Step Two to the Vice-President of Labor Relations or his/her designee. When grievances are presented at Step Two, the grievance shall be reduced to writing and signed by the grievant or his/her Union Representative. Within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the written grievance, the Vice-President of Labor Relations, and/or his/her designee shall meet with the grievant and his/her Union Representative(s). Within ten (10) calendar days of such a meeting, the Employer shall respond in writing to the Step 2 grievance.

**Step Three:** If the grievance is not settled in Step Two, the Union may submit the grievance to arbitration in accordance with article 20.

- **19.2** Failure on the part of the Employer to answer a grievance at any Step shall not be deemed acquiescence thereto, and the Union may proceed to the next Step.
- 19.3 Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, a grievance concerning a discharge or suspension may be presented initially at Step Two, within the time limits specified in this Article. In addition, a grievance which affects a substantial number or class of employees, or which the Employer representatives designated in Step One lacks authority to settle, may initially be presented at Step Two by the Union.
- 19.4 All time limits herein specified shall be deemed to be exclusive of holidays except as noted. It is the intent of the parties that all grievances shall be filed and processed promptly, but the time limits specified herein may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties in writing (e-mail is an acceptable written format). The time limits set forth herein are substantive provisions and failure to comply with any such time limit by the union shall be a complete bar to any further action with respect to such grievance.

19.5 If an employee grieves any assignment, directive, rule, regulation or management determination which affects the employee shall obey the assignment, directive, rule, regulation or management determination until a final decision has been made regarding the grievance, except where an employee has a reasonable belief that the environment poses a threat to their safety and health, a violation of their Nursing License or, in the employee's professional judgment, a danger to the patient.

#### ARTICLE 20 ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

- **20.1** In the event that a satisfactory settlement of a grievance is not reached through the Grievance Procedure provided in Article 19, within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving the Step II decision, the Union may submit the matter for arbitration before the New Jersey State Board of Mediation. This time limit may be extended by written (including electronic) mutual agreement of the parties.
- **20.2** The arbitrator shall be selected in accordance with the rules of the New Jersey State Board of Mediation, and the parties agree to abide by the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules thereof.
- **20.3** To be an issue which is arbitrable hereunder, the grievance must be a dispute, claim or complaint arising under the term of this Agreement and it must be a matter of interpretation or application of some provision of this Agreement.
- **20.4** The decision of the arbitrator shall be limited only to questions presented under this Agreement, and the arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, or subtract from, or modify this Agreement: nor shall the arbitrator substitute his/her discretion for the Employer's discretion in cases where the Employer is given discretion under this Agreement; or to recommend an award in violation of any other provisions of this Agreement.
- **20.5** The legal and other fees and expenses of the arbitration and of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the parties.
- **20.6** The award of an arbitrator hereunder shall be final, conclusive and binding upon the Employer, the Union and the employees.
- **20.7** The time limits set forth herein are substantive provisions, and failure by the Union to comply with any such time limit shall be a complete bar to any further action with respect to such arbitration.

# ARTICLE 21 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

#### 21.1 Family and Medical Leave

Family and medical leave and related benefits shall be provided to employees in accordance with the federal Family and Medical Leave Act ("FMLA") and the New Jersey Family Leave Act ("NJFLA").

#### 21.2 Medical Leave

An unpaid leave of absence of up to six (6) months shall be provided to employees who become ill or injured due to a non-work-related reason. An employee will be responsible for providing medical documentation supporting the request for any type of medical leave, including the extension of an initial medical leave, acceptable to the Employer. If an employee is separated from employment after six (6) months of an approved LOA but returns within one (1) year of the beginning of the approved LOA, the employee shall be reinstated to his/her former position if

available, or a substantially equivalent position. If there are no such positions available, the employee may accept any vacant position for which he/she is qualified. He/she will retain his/her seniority date, pension vesting (if already vested), shall be covered by the Employer's health insurance plan on the first (1st) of the month after the date of the return and shall not be subject to probation under Article 7.

#### 21.3 Personal Leave

A leave of absence for personal reasons, not to exceed twelve (12) weeks, will not be unreasonably denied. An employee on a personal leave of absence must use vacation time and personal days during the leave. An employee may choose not to use up to a combination of three (3) personal/vacation days during such leave so that they have some leave time available upon return to work and/or sufficient time to take a vacation that was pre-planned and pre-approved prior to the leave (time accrued between the end of the leave and the vacation shall be counted in this calculation).

#### 21.4 Military Leave

Unpaid military leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable law.

# 21.5 Workers' Compensation Leave

An employee who is unable to work because of an injury or illness related to his/her employment will be eligible for any benefits as provided by the New Jersey Workers' Compensation Act.

# 21.6 Accrual of Benefits During a Leave of Absence

Paid time off and seniority shall continue to accrue during a paid leave of absence. Further, insurance benefits shall be continued during the paid leave to the extent of and on the same basis as provided before the commencement of the leave.

### 21.7 Communication while on Leave of Absence

An employee out on a medical or worker's comp leave of absence will be required to contact their direct manager one week prior to the expiration of the approved leave period. The employee must update the manager as to the status of their leave. If the employee has medical certification from their physician, regarding an update on their leave status or return to work date they must forward a copy to their manager (employee must provide notice of extension as soon as possible).

For any communication that takes place by letter or e-mail – by a manager, an employee will make a good faith effort to respond in a timely manner.

When the employee is medically able to return to work with no restrictions a final medical certification must be obtained and given to the employee's direct manager prior to the employee's return. No employee will be allowed to return to work without providing the medical certification.

If the employee would rather provide information directly to Human Resources, they may, but the employee must notify their manager that they have done so via e-mail or letter.

#### ARTICLE 22 HOLIDAYS

# 22.1 Paid Holidays Employees (except Per Visit employees) shall be entitled to the following paid holidays:

(a) New Year's Day

Martin Luther King Day

Presidents' Day

Memorial Day

Independence Day

Labor Day

Thanksgiving Day

**Christmas Day** 

Float Holiday

Each nurse must submit their designated paid holiday by the first Monday of the preceding November. All other provisions for the scheduling of holidays will apply as set forth below.

#### a.2 Religious Holidays

- (a) An eligible employee who desires to exchange any paid holiday to fulfill the employee's bona fide religious obligation or beliefs shall be required to submit such requests with the employee's quarterly vacation requests pursuant to Article 24.
- (b) Any approval under 22.2(a) is at the manager's discretion and will not be unreasonably denied. Once the switch of the recognized holiday (as set forth in 22.1) and the religious holiday has been approved, the employee will be scheduled to work the recognized holiday but not be eligible for holiday pay pursuant to Article 22.4. The religious holiday for which the employee has been approved as a day off will be coded as a holiday and paid pursuant to Article 22.4. An employee may only be granted two (2) such days per year under this provision.

# 22.3 Holidays Falling on Weekends

Holidays which occur or fall on a Sunday shall be determined to fall on the following Monday. Holidays which occur or fall on a Saturday shall be determined to fall on the preceding Friday.

When Christmas Day, New Year's Day and/or Independence Day falls on either a Saturday or Sunday, any nurse who works on the actual holiday will receive holiday pay plus an additional day off (holiday time). Any employee working the Monday after or the Friday before a holiday, will be paid at time and one-half (1 ½) for hours worked, but will not receive an additional day off (holiday time).

#### 22.4 Holiday Pay and Scheduling

Full time and Part Time employees who are not scheduled by the Employer to perform work on holidays shall receive holiday pay at their regular rate of pay on a prorated basis based upon assigned weekly hours. Where two (2) holidays fall consecutively, immediately prior to or subsequent to a Saturday and Sunday, the Employer shall not schedule an employee to work more than two (2) consecutive days thereon.

# 22.5 Holiday Assignments

- (a) Recognizing that there are no holidays with respect to a patient's needs and that it is not possible for all employees to be off on the same day, the Employer shall have the right to require any employee to work on any of the holidays specified herein. The Employer will distribute holiday assignments on an equitable basis between qualified employees. Where scheduling permits no employee shall work the same holiday two (2) years in succession. In the event of all other considerations being equal, the more senior employee's request shall be honored.
- (b) In the event an employee is scheduled to work on any of the holidays specified they shall be paid time and one- half (1-1/2) for hours worked and be credited with holiday time at straight time rate.
- (c) Holiday time must be taken within sixty (60) calendar days before or after the holiday. This holiday day shall be granted with prior supervisory approval on their regularly scheduled workday. If a nurse has requested to use holiday time in writing within the sixty (60) calendar days period and has been denied by his/her manager, then the employee may request to be paid for the time. If after sixty (60) calendar days the holiday has not been scheduled, the Employer will pay out the holiday time.
- (d) Home Care Intake Coordinator (HCIC) holiday time, for holidays worked, shall be granted as follows: one (1) holiday to be taken January through June and one (1) holiday to be taken July through December. Holiday approval will not be unreasonably denied.

# ARTICLE 23 PERSONAL DAYS

Employees, who have completed their probationary period, shall be entitled to four (4) personal days per year, accrued on a bi-weekly basis. Per Visit and per diem employees do not receive personal days. An employee who is entitled to a personal day shall submit his/her request to their supervisor at least one (1) week prior to the day on which such personal day is to be taken. A personal day may be scheduled with less than one (1) weeks' notice where the employee provides a reason acceptable to the Employer. No employee shall be entitled to take a personal day other than as approved by the Employer. Employees may accumulate no more than four (4) personal days at any given time. The Employer shall show each employee the amount of hours of accrued personal days to which that employee is entitled on each paystub. Employees may carry over their personal day balance into a new calendar year, provided the balance is three (3) days or less.

#### ARTICLE 24 VACATION DAYS

- **24.1** (a) For Nurses, following probation, the following vacation schedule is in effect, accrued from the first day of employment with the Employer. The schedule is based upon a 37.5 hours regular work week. Employees who work less than 37.5 hours per week shall receive vacation prorated on the following schedule, unless otherwise specified in this Agreement.
  - 1. Employees continuously employed for at least six (6) months shall be entitled to seven and one-half (7 1/2) days' vacation.
  - 2. Employees continuously employed for at least six (6) months, but less than two (2) years shall be entitled to fifteen (15) days per year, accrued at the rate of 0.288 days per week.
  - 3. Employees continuously employed for at least two (2) years, but less than five (5) years shall be entitled to twenty (20) days per year, accrued at a rate of 0.385 days per week.
  - 4. Employees continuously employed for at least five (5) years, but less than ten (10) years shall be entitled to twenty-two (22) days per year, accrued at the rate of 0.423 days per week.
  - 5. Employees continuously employed for at least ten (10) years shall be entitled to twenty-five (25) days' vacation, accrued at a rate of 0.481 days per week
- **24.2** (a) Each Nurse is to submit a quarterly request for vacation to his/her immediate Supervisor on the following dates: First quarter First Monday of the prior November; Second quarter First Monday of February; Third quarter First Monday of April; Fourth quarter First Monday of August. Vacation time is subject to supervisory approval, and, if in the opinion of the Supervisor, patient care demands can be fulfilled, then two (2) or more requests for the same time period may be granted.
- (b) All vacation time may be taken only with the approval of the Supervisor, based on demand for patient care. The Supervisor will consider vacation requests for vacations to be taken during the period seven (7) working days before Christmas up to and including three (3) working days after New Year's Day, and if, in the opinion of the Supervisor, patient care demand can be fulfilled, then vacation request may be granted. Vacation time may be taken in segments of not less than two (2) hours. If two or more Nurses submit their request on the same day for the same vacation time, and both requests cannot be granted, seniority will prevail.
- Generally, vacation time may not exceed two (2) consecutive weeks. Between September 15 and June 15, three (3) weeks may be taken if no other employees have requested the same vacation time. In addition, in extenuating circumstances, the Employer may approve vacation requests for more than two (2) weeks provided such requests do not interfere with the effective and efficient operation of the Employer. Approval of such requests is at the sole discretion of the Employer who shall give all employees fair and equal treatment under this provision.
- **24.4** The employee must have a response to vacation requests within ten (10) working days of contract due dates.

# ARTICLE 25 SICK LEAVE

Eligible employees, after completion of their probationary period, shall be entitled to paid sick leave as follows: One (1) day sick leave for each month of employment. Upon successful completion of an employee's probationary period, sick leave benefits shall be retroactive to her/his date of hire.

- (a) Pay for any day of sick leave shall be at the employee's regular wage rate.
- (b) Sick leave shall be cumulative from year to a maximum of seventy (70) days.
- (c) To be eligible for sick leave benefits, an employee who is absent due to illness will make every attempt to notify her/his supervisor by phone at least two hours before the employee is scheduled to commence her/his day's work. If the employee does not talk to their supervisor at the time of such notice, they will notify the VP of Homecare.
- (d) If an employee shows abuse of sick time, the Supervisor may request a certificate of illness signed by a licensed physician, Nurse Practitioner or Physician's Assistant. Indications of possible abuse are, but are not limited to:
  - i) Frequent absences on days immediately preceding or following weekends, scheduled days off, or holidays and coincidence of absence with desirable days off;
  - ii) A tendency to use sick leave as rapidly as it is accrued, especially one (1) day at time.
- e) Employees on sick leave for a continuous period of more than seven (7) days and who are eligible and actually receive New Jersey Temporary Disability Benefits (T.D.B.) shall receive sick leave pay, to the extent to which they are entitled, so that their combined benefits from New Jersey Temporary Disability benefits plus their sick leave pay shall equal the employee's regular wage rate until accrued sick leave has been exhausted.
- (f) Up to six (6) paid sick leave days per year may also be used in the event of an illness of any family member residing in the employee's same domicile.
- (g) Accrual of Benefits: Eligible employees out on disability leave who use accrued vacation or sick leave benefits shall accrue benefit time on a pro-rata basis.
- (h) An employee may donate a maximum of seven (7) accrued vacation days per year to another employee who is suffering from a catastrophic illness. For the purposes of this section, "catastrophic illness" shall mean an illness or injury that causes an employee to be placed on disability leave, and as a result of which that employee has utilized all accrued sick, vacation, and personal days for paid time off during a period of disability.
- (i) Nurses may designate time to be utilized under VNAHG Human Resources Policy # NJ210 (Appendix A) which utilize the criteria set forth under the New Jersey Earned Sick Leave Law.

#### ARTICLE 26 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

**26.1** Full-time and part-time employees shall be given consecutive scheduled days off with pay as Bereavement Leave, for the death in the Employee's immediate family as follows:

- (a) Four (4) days for the death of the employee's parent, (including step or foster), child or parent, spouse, domestic partner, sibling, or grandchild; child, spouse, domestic partner, sibling, or grandchild;
- (b) Two (2) days for the death of the employee's grandparent, mother/father in-law, son/daughter in-law, sister/brother in-law, aunt, uncle, niece or nephew.
- **26.2** Bereavement leave may only be taken at the time of death, funeral, memorial or burial of a family member.
- **26.3** Matters of special circumstances involving an extension of leave time, with or without pay may be taken with approval from the Employer. Any such reasonable requests shall not be unreasonably denied. Employer may make reasonable requests for supporting documentation.
- **26.4** Bereavement leave shall be defined as leave granted for bereavement purposes, and its use for any other purpose is prohibited. Improper use of Bereavement Leave may result in discipline up to and including termination.

#### ARTICLE 27 JURY DUTY

- 27.1 Jury duty is the responsibility of every citizen. Therefore, unless there is strong evidence that the Employee's absence from work would seriously handicap a patient's care or impair, in any way, the operation of his/her position, the Employee shall be expected to serve.
- **27.2** Regardless of the length of time in performing this responsibility, the Employee's service record will remain unbroken.
- **27.3** Regular full-time and part-time employees will receive pay during the period of jury service, equal to his/her regular wages for up to twenty (20) days of jury duty service that occur during the employee's scheduled work hours. A statement of jury earnings and time served must be supplied by the Employee to the Employer to allow verification of same.
- 27.4 If an employee reports for jury duty and is excused that day, he/she shall be required to report back to his/her job for work, as soon as practical thereafter, except such Employee shall not be required to do so in said instance if there is less than three (3) hours remaining in his/her work shift.

# ARTICLE 28 HEALTH, GROUP LIFE, DENTAL AND LONG-TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE

- **28.1** Group Life, Dental, and Long-Term Disability Insurance Coverage as presently provided by the Employer shall be continued if such type of coverage is available. The Employer reserves the right to change its insurance carrier or carriers, provided coverage is equal to or better than previous coverage. The Employer shall notify the Union as soon as practicable when a determination has been made to change coverage and/or carriers.
- **28.2** The Employer shall provide a health insurance plan option for eligible employees with terms and conditions substantially equivalent to the Horizon Blue Cross/Blue Shield Direct Access plan as currently provided. The Employer shall have the right to change its health insurance carrier or the aforementioned plan at any time provided the above requirements are met.

- 28.3 The premium for individual coverage shall be divided as follows: 75% payable by the Employer and 25-% payable by the employee. The cost of the premium for dependent coverage, which is above the cost of the single coverage premium, will continue as follows:
  - (a) For the PPO plan, the Employer will pay 65% and the employee will pay 35% of the premium; and
  - (b) For the Surest plan, the Employer will pay 75%, and the employee will pay 25% of the premium
- **28.4** The Employer shall have the right to change the physician co-payments and prescription co-payments to equal the health insurance plan co-payments for the applicable plan and calendar year.
- **28.5** The Employer shall have the right to offer new plans or options to eligible employees during the length of this agreement. The Employer shall notify the Union of any new plans or options as soon as practicable.

#### ARTICLE 29 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Following two full years of continuous employment with the Employer, the Employer will contribute to the employee pension plan, in each year of the Agreement, the following percentages of the base salary of the employee, not including overtime or other fringe benefit payments: four percent (4%) for employee. The plan will be one hundred percent (100%) vested. The plan currently in effect is administered by Prudential and may be amended from time to time with notice to the union.

Employees must be twenty-one (21) years of age and work a minimum of 1,000 hours per year to participate in the pension above.

Upon first day of employment, employees may make optional contributions to the Employer's 403(B) plan during their employment.

#### **HPAE Retiree Medical Trust effective January 1, 2025**

- 1. **Employee Contribution:** Full-time employees shall make a payment of \$7.50 per bi-weekly pay to the Health Professionals and Allied Employees, AFT/AFL-CIO, Retiree Medical Trust ("Retiree Medical Trust"). Part-time employees shall make payment of \$3.75 per bi-weekly pay. On a monthly basis, the Employer will transfer one check to the Retiree Medical Trust representing two (2) bi-weekly pay periods for each full-time, and part-time employee who worked in that month.
- 2. Transmittal of Contributions: The Retiree Medical Trust shall remain separate and apart from any other retiree health insurance funding program which may be established by the Employer, unless changed by mutual agreement of the parties to this Agreement. Contributions to the Retiree Medical Trust shall be due to the Retiree Medical Trust on the 15th of the month following the month for which the contributions are made.

# 3. No Liability for Employer or Union:

A. The monies contributed to the Retiree Medical Trust shall be used only for retiree health

insurance premiums or health service expenses, and the reasonable cost of administering the Retiree Medical Trust as permitted by law

B. It is specifically agreed that the Employer assumes no obligation, financial or otherwise, arising out of HPAE Retiree Medical Trust, and the Union shall indemnify and save the Employer harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, and other forms of liability that might arise out of or by reason of any action, claim, demand or suit by any person which may involve or be in whole or part based upon collection or deduction of any money by the Employer submitted to the Retiree Medical Trust or which may involve or be in whole or part based upon the use of any monies by the Union or the Retiree Medical Trust which may have been collected or deducted by the Employer and remitted to the Retiree Medical Trust. Once the funds are remitted to the Retiree Medical Trust, the disposition thereafter shall be the sole and exclusive obligation and responsibility of the Retiree Medical Trust. So long as the Employer makes payment of the deductions directed by the Union in the amount herein specified, the Employer shall have no additional liability or responsibility to any of the Union, the Retiree Medical Trust, or the employees for whom the deductions are made.

# ARTICLE 30 MONETARY BENEFITS

- **30.1** Frequency of payment will continue as heretofore. If the employer chooses to change the frequency of payment, the employer shall notify the union and the union shall have the right to bargain over the impact of such change. All paychecks shall be delivered in envelopes or other means of assuring confidentiality. Pay stubs will clearly identify specific hours worked and compensated, and entitled rates. Employees' accrued unused benefit time balances are accessible through their timekeeping application on a mobile phone or computer.
- **30.2** Effective January 1, 2025, if employer has made an error in pay, the employer will issue a check with the correction within twenty-four (24) hours. Such check will have the proper payroll deductions made.

When an employee fails to submit timecards within the designated timeframe, it may result in the manager processing payroll based on the information available at the time. In such cases, any discrepancies or omissions will be corrected in the subsequent payroll cycle as outlined in Employer's Timekeeping Policy #625.

**30.3** Salary increases that may be delayed by the payroll cycle will be paid retroactively to the scheduled effective date and included in the next paycheck.

# ARTICLE 31 WAGES, DIFFERENTIALS, BONUSES AND OTHER ECONOMIC BENEFITS

# **31.1** Wages

**Hourly Employees** 

- (a) Each hourly employee that is on the payroll of Employer on October 31, 2024, shall receive the below hourly wage rate:
- (b) Each hourly employee that is on the payroll of Employer on October 31, 2024, shall receive the below hourly wage rate:
- (c) All Per-Diem, Part-time, and Full-time bargaining unit members will receive the following across the board raises added to the hourly wage rate as follows, retroactive to Nov. 1, 2024:
  - Effective Nov. 1, 2024 for Englewood and Essex: \$2.00 per hour
  - Effective Nov. 1, 2025 for Englewood and Essex: 2.5%
  - Adding Years of Experience Tenure Bands to include now: 0-2, 3-5 and 30+ for all nurses

| ESSEX RN Hourly Rates     |           | +\$2 per hour | 2.5%      |
|---------------------------|-----------|---------------|-----------|
| Years of Experience (YOE) | 11/1/2023 | 11/1/2024     | 11/1/2025 |
| 0-2                       | \$43.21   | \$45.21       | \$46.34   |
| 3-5                       |           | \$45.50       | \$46.64   |
| 6-10                      | \$43.83   | \$45.83       | \$46.98   |
| 11-15                     | \$44.35   | \$46.35       | \$47.51   |
| 16-20                     | \$45.13   | \$47.13       | \$48.31   |
| 21-24                     | \$46.16   | \$48.16       | \$49.36   |
| 25-29                     | \$47.00   | \$49.00       | \$50.23   |
| 30+                       |           | \$50.00       | \$51.25   |

| ESSEX LPN Hourly Rates    |           | +\$2 per hour | 2.5%      |
|---------------------------|-----------|---------------|-----------|
| Years of Experience (YOE) | 11/1/2023 | 11/1/2024     | 11/2/2025 |
| 0-2                       | \$33.85   | \$35.85       | \$36.75   |
| 3-5                       |           | \$36.00       | \$36.90   |
| 6-10                      | \$34.27   | \$36.27       | \$37.18   |
| 11-15                     | \$34.49   | \$36.49       | \$37.40   |
| 16-20                     | \$34.80   | \$36.80       | \$37.72   |
| 21-24                     | \$35.08   | \$37.08       | \$38.01   |
| 25-29                     | \$35.44   | \$37.44       | \$38.38   |
| 30+                       |           | \$38.00       | \$38.95   |

# Per Visit Employees

- (a) On a case-by-case basis, and at management's discretion, extra hourly pay or revisit pay may be added for extended visits done by per visit nurses.:
- (b) LPNs currently receiving \$46.84/\$57.09 (weekend/holidays) for revisits shall continue to receive these rates or move to the higher rate.
- (c) Time spent in a staff meeting or in-service program shall be at the hourly rate they would receive as an hourly employee above whether it is held at the VNA office or is a required online module, as per Article 10.3.

# PER VISIT RATES

3.50% 2.50% **ESSEX** RN Per Visit Rates 11/1/2023 11/1/2024 11/1/2025 **Admits** \$ 145.73 \$150.83 \$154.60 Above -- weekends and holidays \$ 161.93 \$167.60 \$171.79 Resumptions \$ 116.77 \$125.00 \$128.13 Above -- weekends and holidays \$ 133.45 \$138.12 \$141.57 Recertification/Discharges/RN01 \$ 83.41 \$86.33 \$88.49 Above -- weekends and holidays \$ 116.77 \$120.86 \$123.88 **Revisits** \$ 69.09 \$71.51 \$73.30 Above -- weekends and holidays \$ 85.28 \$88.26 \$90.47

3.50% 2.50%

| ESSEX LPN Per Visit Rates                      | 13 | 1/1/2023 | 11/1/2024 | 11/1/2025 |
|--|----|----------|-----------|-----------|
| Revisits(including discharges & transfers with |    |          |           |           |
| visit)   | \$ | 41.02    | \$42.46   | \$43.52   |
| Above weekends and holidays                    | \$ | 57.21    | \$59.21   | \$60.69   |

#### 31.2 Incentives

#### **Clinical Operations Bonus Scorecard**

### OASIS Related - 30% weighted value (10% each)

- 1. Dyspnea Improvement Target 96%
- 2. Management of Oral Medications Target 95%
- 3. Eliminate non-in-person discharge visits Target 5%

## **Hospitalizations** – 35% weighted value

1. 60- Day Hospitalization Rate (Medicare Only) – Target 12%

# **Patient Experience** - 35% weighted value (17.5%each)

- 1. Improve HHCAHPS response rate Target 25%
- 2. Recommend the Agency 90%

# Clinician Productivity – Yes or No

- 1. RN and LPN Individual Productivity is equal to 28 points per week average or above for the time period bonus is rewarding to be eligible for bonus
- 2. HCIC If 90% of the RN and LPNs meet Individual Productivity, HCICs will be eligible for the bonus

#### Plan Rules:

#### First Payout:

- Bonus opportunity of \$500 quarterly will be awarded starting April 2025 to full-time clinicians and per diem clinicians (who have worked at least 375 hours in the past three months) for improvements in 60-day hospitalization rates, HHCAHPS response rates, and achieving an average individual productivity of 28 points or higher per week. Improvement will be measured against 2024 results. Per Diem clinicians who have worked at least 187.50 hours will be eligible for a \$250 quarterly bonus.
- 2. The metrics will be tracked out of HomeCare HomeBase (HCHB) for Hospitalization and Productivity. HHCAHPS response rates will come from our Patient Experience Vendor, e.g. SHP.
- 3. RN and LPN Individual Productivity of 28 points or higher per week must be met to be eligible for the bonus.
- 4. Baseline metrics are as follows:
  - West Orange 60-day Hospitalizations 15%
  - Englewood 60-day Hospitalizations 14%
  - West Orange HHCAHPS response rate 11%
  - Englewood HHCAHPS response rate 21%

## 2025 Forward:

- Bonus opportunity of \$500 quarterly will be awarded to full-time clinicians and per diem clinicians (who have worked at least 375 hours in the past six months) for improvements in 2024 60-day hospitalization rates, HHCAHPS response rates, and achieving an average individual productivity of 28 points or higher per week. Per Diem clinicians who have worked at least 187.50 hours will be eligible for a \$250 quarterly bonus.
- 2. The metrics will be calculated based on homecare visits completed in the prior quarter as follows:

| Measurement Period                  | Bonus Payout Month |
|-------------------------------------|--------------------|
| October 1, 2024 – December 31, 2024 | April 2025         |
| January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025    | July 2025          |
| April 1, 2025 – June 30, 2025       | October 2025       |
| July 1, 2025 – September 30, 2025   | January 2026       |
| October 1, 2025 – December 31, 2025 | April 2026         |
| January 1, 2026 – March 31, 2026    | July 2026          |
| April 1, 2026 – June 30, 2026       | October 2026       |

- 3. The metrics will be tracked out of HomeCare HomeBase (HCHB) for Hospitalization and Productivity. HHCAHPS response rates will come from our Patient Experience Vendor, e.g. SHP.
- 4. RN and LPN Individual Productivity of 28 points or higher per week must be met to be eligible for the bonus.
- 5. If CMS changes VBP (value based purchasing) payment model, VNA retains the right to update the Bonus plan.

# **Eligibility:**

Clinicians must be active on payroll at the time of bonus payments to be eligible for the bonus.

# **Disqualifiers for Bonus Eligibility:**

- Serious policy or performance violations, such as:
  - o Major conduct violations (e.g., harassment, discrimination)
  - Consistently low performance despite warnings
  - Unsafe behavior endangering others
- Additional grounds for disqualification include code of conduct violations, such as:
  - Substance abuse
  - o Financial or ethical misconduct
  - Insubordination
  - o Significant client complaints
  - Disruptive or hostile behavior toward colleagues

These behaviors compromise trust, safety, and teamwork, violating policy standards for bonus eligibility.

### **Productivity Incentive Plan**

Upon ratification, the following Productivity Incentive Plan shall be in place for the term of this agreement for hourly employees:

Employees completing visits that surpass 30 points in a week shall receive an additional \$40.00 per each visit point for each visit above 30 points. For instance, if a nurse is at 30 points, and the next visit(s) would cause her to surpass 30 points (a SOC, ROC, or re-cert), then the employee would be paid at \$40.00 per each visit point for that visit and \$40.00 per visit point for any subsequent visits. Every fifteen minutes shall be equal to a quarter point.

If an employee has a scheduled day off during the week, they shall be credited with no less than six (6) points for that day. This is so the employee can achieve the bonus for surpassing 30 points in a given week. This credit shall not apply to days an employee calls out sick.

For Productivity Incentive purposes, all Starts of Care documentation must be completed within 24 hours of the visit. Failure to do so will eliminate the Productivity Incentive for that visit. This provision shall not apply in cases where a nurse completed three (3) Starts of Care in one day. In those cases, the nurse shall have up to 48 hours to complete the documentation for those visits and still receive the incentive.

It is not the intention of the parties for an individual to receive Critical Need Incentive Pay (31.8 (b), Call-In Assignment bonus (31.8 (e)), and Productivity Incentive (31.8 (g)) for the same visit. If a situation arises where an individual is entitled to two or more of the above for a single visit, the employee shall receive the bonus which is most beneficial to that employee.

- **31.3** Employer will determine hiring-in rates. In the first full pay period following December 1, 2019, all incumbent employees will be moved to the correct step on the wage scale in section 4 of this article, in accordance with their full credited years of experience.
- 31.4 All employees who were employed as of date of contract execution will receive the experience differential above for 100% of their EHMC/Employer experience and seventy-five percent (75%) of the employee's non-EHMC/Employer nursing experience. The increase will be equal to one (1) creditable year of nursing experience, up to a maximum of fourteen (14) years' credit (based on up to 18.6 years of experience). The nursing experience must have been in community, health, hospice, med-surg, case management, gerontology, maternal-child health or OB-GYN. For the purpose of calculating the service credit the employer will use the information in its possession. If additional information is necessary, an eligible employee hired prior to contract execution will be provided two months from the date of contract execution to submit his/her resume identifying the name and address of the employer, dates of service and a description of the job duties for each position held in order to receive credit on prior experience. Employees hired after date of contract execution will be provided experience credit in the same manner set forth above.

#### 31 5 New Hire Rates:

(a) RNs

Existing employees will advance to the appropriate experience level above on their anniversary date of hire.

Existing employees will advance to the appropriate experience level above on their anniversary date of hire.

All Per-Diem, Part-time, and Full-time bargaining unit members will receive the following across the board raises added to the hourly wage rate as follows, retroactive to Nov. 1, 2024.

## 31. 6 Preceptor and Level 3 Nurses

- (a) Effective January 1, 2018, the Employer shall establish a Preceptor Program. The purpose of the Preceptor Program will be to have "preceptors" provide individualized assistance and attention to newly hired Staff Nurses in order to facilitate their transition into the organization.
- (b) Preceptors will be selected by the Employer based upon such factors as clinical competency, communication and interpersonal skills, and a minimum of one (1) year of service with the Employer. Each Preceptor will receive appropriate formal training prior to beginning work as a preceptor.
- (c) The Employer shall have the right to remove someone as a preceptor provided the preceptor receives progressive discipline relating to her/his failure to appropriately function as a preceptor. Any preceptor may withdraw from preceptor status at any time by providing written notice to the Employer. In addition, the Employer may provide orientation for newly hired staff nurses through other means and methods but not to replace the role and work of the preceptors. Removal of the Preceptor designation shall not be arbitrable.
- (d) RN and LPN Preceptors, shall be paid a differential of two dollars (\$2.00) per hour for all hours paid during the time the employee holds the "preceptor" designation, except that Preceptor IIs shall be paid a differential of three dollars (\$3.00) an hour. Nurses who have been trained and certified by Employer as preceptors shall receive this differential at all times. nurses who have not been trained and certified by employer as preceptors, but due to operational needs are needed by the organization to precept, shall do so only a voluntary basis, and RN Preceptors shall receive one-thirty dollars (\$30.00) per day spent precepting a new employee; LPN preceptors shall receive twenty- five (\$25.00) per day spent precepting a new employee.

Preceptors shall be paid a differential of two dollars (\$2.00) per hour for all hours paid during the time the employee holds the "preceptor" designation, except that preceptor IIs shall be paid a differential of three dollars (\$3.00) an hour. Nurses who have been trained and certified by Employer as preceptors shall receive this differential at all times.

- (e) Preceptors shall have a reduced case load while they are precepting, no more than five (5) points per day.
- (f) Nurses holding the position of Level 3 Nurse shall be paid a differential of one dollar and

twenty-five cents (\$1.25) in addition to any other wage or differential they are eligible to receive. The terms of the position will be as per the Job Description dated 1/28/11, as such precepting duties are part of the normal role of the Level 3 and therefore they do not receive additional preceptor differential.

(g) The Employer shall make its best efforts to not assign a doctor/intern/student to travel with a nurse to visits. In the event that it cannot be avoided the nurse shall be compensated with a flat \$30 (thirty dollars) stipend for each day the doctor/intern/student is assigned to them.

#### 31.6 Education

- (a) Hourly recognition pay of one dollar (\$1.00) will be given to Nurses holding a Bachelor's degree related to the Nurses job as determined by the agency.
- (b) An additional hourly recognition pay of one dollar (\$1.00) will be given to Nurses holding a master's degree related to the Nurses job as determined by the Employer.
- (c) Nurses will have 90 days from the ratification date of this agreement to present proof of degree. Employees receiving degrees in the future, will have 30 days from the date of the degree to submit their proof, otherwise this benefit will be effective as of the date that the proof is submitted.

#### 31.7 Certification

(a) An additional hourly recognition pay of 2.00 per hour will be given to Nurses holding a ANA/NAPNAP or other nationally recognized Certification related to the Nurses job as determined by the Employer. Such certifications include, but are not limited to:

Case Management Certification (by nationally recognized organization)

**Gerontological Nurse** 

Maternal/Child Health Nurse

Hospice (NBCHN) and Palliative Care (CHPN) Certification

**ANCC Med-Surg Certifications** 

Wound Care

Chronic Care

Ostomy

Diabetic Wound Care (WCEI)

AHN-CC

Employer will pay nurses so certified the hourly amount provided the area of certification relates directly to their current position. The nurse will be responsible for keeping his/her certification current in order to receive the recognition pay, and the Employer will pay for the cost of recertification in accordance with Article 15.5.

Nurses will have 90 days from the ratification date of this agreement to present proof of certification. Employees receiving certification or renewing certification in the future, will have 30 days from the date of the certification or renewal to submit their proof, otherwise this benefit will be effective as of the date that the proof is submitted.

### 31.8 Bonuses & Other Economic Benefits

- (a) Temporary Re-assignment: Home Care Intake Coordinators may be required to cover more than one facility in the course of their regularly scheduled workday based on facility census and proximity. Should it become necessary for a HCIC to cover an additional facility above their usual assignment they shall receive an additional \$100.00 per day. The bonus is contingent on prior manager authorization and applies specifically to assignments requiring multi-facility coverage due to census fluctuation and proximity needs. A bonus may also be awarded for situations where a critical need arises to cover a site alone that is typically staffed by more than one HCIC.
- (b) Out of County: In circumstances in which the Employer determines that, during regularly scheduled hours, there are patient care needs outside of Essex or Hudson Counties that cannot be met by utilizing non-HPAE bargaining unit staff, the Employer, in its sole discretion, may schedule available assignments to HPAE staff nurses. Any such available assignments shall first be offered on a volunteer basis based on seniority; if enough employees have volunteered, then the Employer will schedule in inverse order of seniority. Any nurse who performs an assignment outside of Essex or Hudson Counties under this provision, during regular work hours, shall be paid a differential of \$3.00 per hour for the entire shift for the travel time and work time out of Essex or Hudson Counties. The differential shall be in addition to all other wages and applicable differentials. HPAE bargaining unit members temporarily working in a non-Employer service area shall remain covered by this agreement. Under no circumstances will any VNA Health Group of NJ, LLC bargaining unit employees be paid an out-of-county bonus for any work performed in Essex or Hudson Counties.
- (d) Critical Need Incentive Pay: In circumstances in which the Employer determines that there is a patient care need that cannot be met by staff during regularly scheduled hours, Employer, in its sole discretion, may offer the available patient visit(s) to nurses on a volunteer basis. To invoke this procedure, the Employer will send an email to all Nurses identifying the call as a Critical Need Incentive Pay offer. The available visits shall be offered by seniority, provided however, that nurses shall be required to respond within one (1) hour of the announcement to reserve a place. If it is after 1:30 pm when the need is identified, the employer may choose from the nurses who have responded by seniority after one half hour. Any nurse who performs a patient visit(s) under this provision shall be paid the following amount in addition to all other wages and applicable differentials: \$40.00 per visit point

A nurse shall be eligible to receive critical need incentive pay for seeing a patient assigned to her/his team or another team, depending on the operational needs of the Employer. If a nurse is offered, and accepts, a critical need patient visit on her/his scheduled day off, she may only be required to see said critical need patient visit, without the precondition of seeing other patient visits.

## (e) Vehicles

i) Mileage: Employees using their own vehicles shall be reimbursed at the then current rate set by the IRS for all miles driven during the course of the employee's work day except for detours made for the employee's personal reasons.

Effective April 1, 2014, employees who are scheduled by the Employer to report to their first assigned working locations before reporting to the office shall receive the mileage rate for any distance between their home and the first assigned working location, minus the distance from their home to the office. Employee is responsible for calculating that mileage and entering it into Home Care Home Base. Mileage not entered within the pay period incurred will be denied.

On-Call shall receive mileage reimbursement from portal to portal for miles traveled.

- (ii) When emergency repairs cannot be made to the employee's vehicle after working hours, a car may be rented for not more than fifteen (15) days. Staff will have the option of using a vendor contracted by the Employer that will bill the agency directly, or they may choose their own vendor for which the Nurse will submit a bill for reimbursement to the Employer. The Employer reserves the right to pay any of the rental charges directly to the supplier and reimburse itself from the next succeeding salary payment to the Nurse for any monies in excess of the fifteen (15) days. The maximum per diem rental rate to be paid by the Employer will be thirty-five (\$35) dollars per day. All costs in excess of thirty-five (\$35) dollars per day will be the responsibility of the individual employee. Car rentals exceeding one (1) day will be reimbursed following supervisory approval.
- (iii) If the employee's vehicle becomes disabled while performing her/his assigned duties, and if such vehicle's disability would prevent such employee from working the rest of the day, the employee shall receive her/his regular full day's 37 pay. An employee may not utilize this section more than fifteen (15) hours in any calendar year.
- (iv) The Employer shall educate all members on the process of correctly inputting work mileage to account for detours not mapped by the pre-scheduled route. This shall include on- call portal to portal mileage.
- (v) The Employer shall reimburse nurses for State-approved parking placards (both initial and renewals) for those nurses working in areas with restricted residential parking that necessitate placards.

# (f) On-Call

(i) All regular full-time and part-time employees shall be required to work on-call shifts based on Employer and patient needs. First, the Employer will seek volunteers for on-call shifts. If no volunteers are available, on-call shifts will be assigned on a rotating basis, according to inverse seniority. A minimum of one (1) nurse per county per night will be scheduled. New hires will not be inserted into the on-call rotation until the completion of one hundred and twenty (120) days of service. If an employee is on a paid or unpaid leave, their turn in the rotation will be skipped. Upon their return, they shall be assigned the next on-call shift that no volunteers have agreed to fill.

- Newark, Irvington, and East Orange and other areas as identifiable will not be visited during on- call hours.
- (ii) On call nurses will be paid twelve dollars(\$12.00) per hour for on-call hours and receive on scale rate for patient care hours portal to portal with a two (2) hour minimum per on-call shift. Any on-call OASIS visits shall be paid at the nurse's hourly rate plus critical need bonus pay in accordance with Article 31.8(b). On Call shall include holiday pay.
- (iii) A regular employee and a per diem employee who is actually called in to care for a patient may delay the start of their regular shift by the portal-to-portal time plus one-half hour if scheduled to work within eight hours of the end of the time they were providing patient care.
- (iv) The Employer may post positions that are on-call only. Full time for this position will be four (4) days in a seven (7) day period; less than four (4) days will be considered part time and receive prorated benefits. The full-time position will receive time off benefits equivalent to the full-time day staff.
- (v) On-Call nurses shall only cover towns normally serviced by the Employer.

## (g) Call-In Assignments

Any employee who is called in to work after the employee has completed his/her normal workday and has returned home, shall be paid their normal rate plus five dollars (\$5.00) per hour for the number of hours that the employee works. A minimum of three (3) hour's pay will be guaranteed to any such employee called back to work.

## ARTICLE 32 SEPARABILITY

It is understood and agreed that all agreements herein are subject to all applicable laws now or hereafter in effect, and to the lawful regulations, rulings and orders of regulatory commissions or agencies having jurisdiction. If any provision of this Agreement is in contravention of the laws or regulations of the United States or the State of New Jersey, such provisions shall be superseded by the appropriate provision of such law or regulation, so long as same is in force and effect, but all other provisions of the Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

### ARTICLE 33 NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT

## Section 1:

Neither the Union nor its officers, representatives or members will for any reason, directly or indirectly, call, sanction, or engage in any strike, sympathy strike, walkout, slow-down, sit-down, stay-away, boycott of a primary or secondary nature, picketing or any other form of interference with the operations of the Employer, including the refusal to cross a picket line in or at any of the Employer's places of business, or directed against the services offered by the Employer in the regular course of its business during the life of this Agreement. In the event of any strike, slow-down, work stoppage, or any other interruption with the operations of the Employer or a threat thereof, the Union will exercise its best efforts as promptly as possible to prevent or terminate any such activity.

#### Section 2:

The Employer shall have the right in addition and without limitation upon its rights to institute legal proceedings, and to discipline any employee who participates in any activity prohibited by this Article. In the event of any violation by an employee of this Article at any time, the Employer shall have the complete right to immediately discipline, including discharge, any and all employees participating in the violation.

#### Section 3:

The Employer agrees there will be no lockout of employees during the term of this agreement.

### ARTICLE 34 SUSPENSION OF NORMAL OPERATIONS

In the event that the CEO of the Employer, or their designee, determines to suspend normal operations of the Employer for any portion of a day due to weather conditions or disasters, employees scheduled to work on such a day shall not sustain a loss of their regular wage rate for that day or portion thereof. A suspension of normal operations shall be based on the conditions at each Employer location. Where the CEO or designee determines to suspend normal operations of the Employer prior to 6 am, the Employer will request a local radio station to announce such closure as soon as practicable. An employee making an emergency visit during the suspension of normal operations will be paid according to the on-call assignment procedure in addition to their normal days pay.

If an employee is scheduled off for vacation or personal time, or has called in sick on a day the Employer has suspended normal operations, hours paid will be charged to benefit hours originally requested.

## ARTICLE 35 DURATION OF THE CONTRACT

- **35.1** This agreement shall become effective November 1, 2024, and shall remain in effect until Oct. 31, 2026.
- **35.2** Negotiations may be reopened if written notice of the intention to negotiate modifications for a successor agreement is given not later than sixty (60) days or more than ninety (90) days prior to October 31, 2024, by either party.

#### SIDE LETTER: NURSE RESIDENCY PROGRAM

Nurse Preceptor II positions: While precepting, there shall be no holiday, weekend or on-call requirements, however, they can still volunteer to do so.

A Preceptor II will be eligible for productivity bonuses and critical incentive need bonuses. Their ability for overtime or working additional hours will not be limited.

Preceptor II nurses will be credited a minimum of 6 points for productivity daily.

The Residency Program Learning & Development coordinator covers absences.

Case Management Preceptor II/Nurse Graduate Maximum Caseload will be dictated by the skill level of preceptee and in collaboration between management, the Preceptor II nurse, program coordinator and the nurse graduate.

Preceptor 11 nurses may withdraw by providing written notice to the Employer.

The Employer shall notify the Union of any changes in policies and practices in the Nurse Residency Program.

For HPAE: For VNA Health Group:

Deborah White, President

Gene D. Karlen, V.P., Labor Relations

Gene & Karler

#### SIDE LETTER ON TIMECARDS AND PRODUCTIVITY

The Union and the Employer agree to meet at mutually agreeable times to train both Employees and Managers on the terms of the updated Collective Bargaining Agreement, including but not limited to, recording of hours worked, recording of productivity/visit points, and recording of critical need incentive pay. Such training shall be ongoing as needed throughout the life of the agreement.

The parties will examine how the following is recorded by UltiPro, Timecard and pay period reports, and Homecare Homebase: straight time vs. overtime hours worked, mileage paid vs mileage reported, visits by day and week, points by day and week, critical need pay by day and week, productivity bonus pay by day and week.

The Employer agrees to pay retroactive to November 1, 2019 any c1itical need or productivity bonus that was not paid correctly. Any claims for payment prior to November 1, 2019 are waived. For the first six pay periods following ratification the Employer will provide the Union with a bi-weekly report containing the information above for bargaining unit employees.

For HPAE: For VNA Health Group:

selevale War

Deborah White, President Gene D. Karlen, V.P., Labor Relations

Gene & Karlen

## SIDE LETTER AGREEMENT

"During times of low census, nurses may take vacation, personal or holiday time off on a voluntary basis only. However, regular full-time and regular part-time employees shall have right of first refusal for visits before visits are assigned to per diem or per visit employees."

FOR HEALTH PROFESSIONALS AND ALLIED EMPLOYHEES, AFT/AFL/CIO

FOR VNA ESSEX:

Rv

By: Khlina Waters

By:\_/

Bv:

## SIDE LETTER

The parties agree that the deletion of Article 5.4 in 2016 from the collective bargaining agreement does not dismiss the union's rights under the National Labor Act.

For HPAE: For VNA Health Group:

Deborah White, President Gene D. Karlen, V.P., Labor Relations

### SIDE LETTER

The Employer and the Union agree that nurses must possess clinical competencies to give the best and safest patient care possible. A competency is defined as the expected level of performance that integrates knowledge, skills, ability, and judgement. In accordance with the New Jersey State Board of Nursing's standards on safe patient care, no nurse will be expected to perform an act if she/he does not possess the knowledge and clinical competence to perform the act safely.

The Employer and the Union also agree that the Employer's transition of certain clinical skills and procedures from the Specialized Care team to HPAE represented nurses, the Employer shall

- 1. Standardized training on the following skills and procedures: PICC/port dressing/care; blood draw via PICC/port; IV infusions-hydration, antibiotics; sta1t of care for IV patients; Re- certification pont
- 2. for IV patients; Resumption of care for IV patients
- 2. Provide a minimum of 37.5 hours of precepting by a specialized care nurse or an HPAE represented nurse who is a trained preceptor/specialized care resource nurse.
- 3. In accordance with Article 10.1c, IV patient visits shall be weighted with an additional 0.5 or I point, depending on the acuity.

The Employer shall not assign any patients or cases to nurses who have not undergone training in accordance with#I-3 above.

For VNA Health Group: illerale War Gene & Karlen

Deborah White, President

For HPAE:

Gene D. Karlen, V.P., Labor Relations

15113230v2 (23666.006)

The above captioned parties agree to recommend for ratification of this MOA, which shall be subject to the parties' ratification.

| FOR HPAE: Allen Chen | FOR VNA:     |
|----------------------|--------------|
| GATEL MITTING        | DATE: 11/7/2 |
| THE OXEX             | Gen Ka       |
| TIME COM -           | Beau Galai   |
| (Mangan 5            | Ellew &      |
| He Dein              | DoL          |
|                      | & Suf 7      |
|                      | aures        |